# local authority pension funds: investing for growth

prepared by a research consortium of the Smith Institute, the Centre for Local Economic Strategies (CLES), Pensions Investment Research Consultants (PIRC) and the Local Authority Pension Fund Forum (LAPFF)





#### About the Local Authority Pension Fund Forum

The Local Authority Pension Fund Forum (LAPFF) exists to promote the investment interests of local authority pension funds, and to maximise their influence as shareholders while promoting social responsibility and corporate governance at the companies in which they invest. Formed in 1990, the forum brings together a diverse range of local authority pension funds with combined assets of over £100 billion.



#### **About Pensions Investment Research Consultants**

Pensions Investment Research Consultants (PIRC) is the UK's leading independent research and advisory consultancy providing services to institutional investors on corporate governance and corporate social responsibility. Since 1986, it has been the pioneer and champion of good corporate governance within the UK.

PIRC has a wide spectrum of clients ranging from pension funds, faith-based investors and trade unions to banks and asset managers. Its Corporate Governance Service is an authoritative and vital resource for active investors, while its widely-read Shareowner Voting Guidelines provide a market-wide benchmark for investors and forms part of the movement for corporate governance reform and long-term wealth creation strategies for responsible investors.



#### **About the Smith Institute**

The Smith Institute is a leading independent think tank which promotes progressive policies for a fairer society. We provide a high-level forum for new thinking and debate on public policy and politics. Through our research, reports, briefings, monographs, events, lectures, education and website, the institute offers a platform for thought leadership on a wide range of topics. We are interested not only in innovation and new ideas but also in how to translate policy into practice.



#### About the Centre for Local Economic Strategies

The Centre for Local Economic Strategies (CLES) is the UK's leading member and research organisation, with charitable status, dedicated to regeneration, local economic development and local governance. CLES brings together a network of subscribing organisations, including regeneration partnerships, local authorities, regional bodies, community groups and voluntary organisations.

Established in 1986, CLES undertakes a range of activities including policy research, production of publications, training, an information and briefing service, events and a consultancy trading arm, CLES Consulting. CLES also owns New Start Magazine, the international magazine for making better places.

The project is supported by major funds from across the country, including: the Local Authority Pension Fund; Greater Manchester Pension Fund; Merseyside Pension Fund; South Yorkshire Pension Authority; West Midlands Pension Fund; West Yorkshire Pension Fund; and Northern Ireland Local Government Officers' Superannuation Committee.

# local authority pension funds: investing for growth

prepared by a research consortium of the Smith Institute, the Centre for Local Economic Strategies (CLES), Pensions Investment Research Consultants (PIRC) and the Local Authority Pension Fund Forum (LAPFF)

#### Contents

Foreword	
Executive summary	6
1. Introduction	10
1.1 Context and terms of reference	
1.2 Participation	
1.3 Report structure	
2. Drivers of change	12
2.1 Growing investment	
2.2 Local authority pension fund performance	
2.3 Developing a market for impact investment	
2.4 Government policy and strategy	
2.4.1 The Localism Act	
2.4.2 The Public Services Act	
2.4.3 HMG: Growing the Social Investment Market 2012	16
3. Study findings	10
3.1 Fund performance and portfolio diversification	
3.2 Materiality of impact investments	
3.3 Key barriers to developing impact investments	
3.4 Potential for pooling investment	
3.5 Delivering social and environmental impacts	
3.6 Resources, knowledge and skills	
3.7 Sources of investment	
3.8 A role for government?	
4. Conclusions and recommendations	28
Study participants	32
Notes	34
Bibliography	36

#### **Foreword**

Paul Hackett, Director of the Smith Institute, Alan MacDougall, Managing Director of Pensions Investment Research Consultants, and Neil McInroy, Chief Executive of the Centre for Local Economic Strategies

The economic and policy context for investment in the UK has experienced significant change over the past five years. The recession and persistent credit squeeze has not only affected the immediate prospects of the private, public and social sectors, it has prompted a fundamental rethink about what we should be investing in and where new sources of finance might come from. Pension funds, including those of local authorities, have become an important item on this new agenda, with much talk in Whitehall and town halls about directing pension fund investment towards upgrading the nation's infrastructure and kick-starting major capital projects.

Local authority pension funds, which hold investments and assets of more than £120 billion, already make substantial investment in the UK. But in this time of fiscal austerity and uncertainty, can they do more to invest for wider economic and social benefit? This unique and extremely timely study tests out what the demand and scope for such investment might be; takes an impassioned look at what has been achieved and can be achieved; highlights the key opportunities and barriers to change; and makes some practical recommendations to government, local authority pension funds and their partners.

There are no quick fixes. Patience, due diligence and fiduciary responsibility are watchwords for all local authority pension

funds. Reforms to the system take time, and demand consensus. However, there are positive signs of change, not least around impact investment and pooled funds.

We hope our findings enhance the debate about investment for local growth not only among pension fund experts and professionals, but also among local authority members and officers, and those in central government. We also hope to stimulate much wider interest and a more constructive dialogue between the sector and politicians, policy makers, opinion formers and the public (many of whom are members of local authority pension schemes). There is still more work to be done on this topic, but we believe that rigorous studies like this can provide the much-needed solid evidence base that trustees and managers need if they are to do things differently in future.

The project included extensive desk research; case studies; interviews with pension managers, fund managers, local authority members and officers; peer review meetings with Local Authority Pension Fund Forum (LAPFF) members; and three round table seminars in Manchester, Barnsley and London. We hope the results reflect the views we received.

We would like to thank all those who took part in the project, especially those who attended the round tables. We would also like to thank the LAPFF members for sponsoring this project and for the information and advice they gave, in particular Brian Bailey, whose knowledge and guidance was invaluable. And finally we would like to offer a very special thanks to Rupert Greenhalgh, the lead researcher, whose work is of the highest standard.

# **Executive summary**

#### **Executive summary**

#### Context

This study is the first of its kind in the UK. It aims to provide a detailed assessment of how pension funds can use their substantial resources to deploy capital in ways that derive wider economic benefit. As such, the study's objectives are to:

- test out what the demand for impact investments might be;
- review what has been achieved and what can be achieved by such investments;
- identify the key opportunities and barriers to change; and
- make recommendations on what stakeholders might do to enable changes in practice.

The study is based upon the results of interviews and workshops with local authority pension fund officers, local authority economic development officers and external fund managers. The main lines of enquiry were informed by a detailed literature review and a call for evidence that was sent out to 100 funds across the UK. The response from these forms the basis for the structure of the report.

#### General context

The recent turbulence in the world's economy has resulted in the diversification of investment portfolios and mitigation of risks in investment decisions over the past 18 months. Almost all funds have responded by increasing their exposure to "alternatives" – private equity and infrastructure. Infrastructure investment was cited in approximately four-fifths of the research interviews.

#### Impact investments

Trustees are showing growing interest in and action towards developing new and alternative sources of investment.

Fiduciary responsibilities and "finance first" were cited as the main reasons for not developing extensive impact investments. Impact investments, for wider economic benefit, mostly centred on developing infrastructure – mainly UK office property. Most regarded established infrastructure as the most attractive in terms of long-term income streams, awareness of risks and a track record of data on occupation, rents and yields.

Whilst maximising returns remained paramount for all funds, most funds stated that they would be interested in developing impact investment in the future, provided that: rates of return and the right risk profile could be achieved; there were no conflicts of interest; the investment schedule was clear; there was a track record of delivery; and investors had a clear exit strategy.

The question of social return cannot intrude on return or fiduciary responsibilities. No funds said they would be prepared to accept lower returns in exchange for achieving social benefit. Equally, current examples of layered investments were also in a minority, despite a growing interest in learning more about these types of opportunity.

While fiduciary responsibility was a first-order concern for funds, there was also a significant interest in the issue of pooling resources, mergers and the barriers to scaling up investment. Most funds recognised that infrastructure investments were likely to be more attractive to the larger funds that had scale and would be able to bear the due diligence, legal, administrative and other management costs.

#### Key barriers to impact investments

The main barriers arising in relation to developing impact investments (particularly for infrastructure funds) were managing reputational risks associated with new investments and potential conflicts of interest, especially where local infrastructure schemes were concerned. Despite these perceptions, investment for wider impact was certainly much higher up the agenda of all the funds interviewed.

Conflict of interest was the primary worry for almost every fund interviewed, and to a lesser extent there were concerns about the risks of investing locally, along with the fact that some employers in a fund (such as outsourced admitted bodies) might not be locally based or derive any real benefit, and so might question such policies.

Impact investments were perceived to be more resourceintensive than conventional investment practice, in terms of management and the knowledge requirement for trustees. Funds were concerned that more complex fund portfolios would put additional pressure upon pension panel members, who already had limited time to devote to their trustee responsibilities.

Investment consultants were regarded as the main gatekeepers, best placed to support and advise on changes in asset portfolio, such as investments for wider economic impact. The other gatekeepers were typically identified as one or two elected members that had a particular interest in particular types of, for example, environmental and social investment, and who were prepared to act as champions to take changes forward.

The qualifications of investment officers were identified as paramount for good fund management.

A number of common areas of future training were identified during the interviews, including: setting up joint ventures, pooling arrangements and associated legal issues; developing framework agreements for procurement and commissioning external managers; and understanding complex alternative investments such as layered property investments, joint ventures, and the use of derivatives and hedge funds to manage exposure to certain investments.

Potential for delivering social and environmental impacts Scaling up the social investment sector will require the development of consistent and robust evaluation processes, in order to raise confidence and attract new investment. The majority of funds interviewed said they thought that this area of investment was largely untested, requiring more information on the historic levels of risks and rates of return to be generated.

Environmental or green investments were, however, seen as a growing asset class, offering a range of subsectors, industrial operations, and localities which could be used to diversify risk and returns across an investment portfolio. The main opportunities identified were linked to government policy relating to waste management, energy sources and carbon targets, and resource efficiency.

While there has been a significant amount of discussion across UK pension funds regarding social housing, there was very little current evidence of take-up of social housing investment products. However, they are proving attractive enough to stimulate requests for further consultancy advice and debate about future development. Most funds suggested they were waiting for others to lead "demonstration projects".

It was widely considered that the development of alternative investments, including those for wider economic benefit, would require external consultancies to "push" on these types of issues (such as social impact investments) if they were to have future traction.

#### Key summary messages for central government

The government needs to show leadership, expediency and greater clarity on how some of its ideas around using pension funds for infrastructure investment would work in practice – including legislation, guidance and financial support to enable the pooling of funds. Most funds feared a rush to pension funds with the expectation that they would be in "a position to support any type of local or national infrastructure".

The government should take a more active role in supporting those areas that wish to move towards pooled investments. Some funds suggested that more could be done to merge funds across the UK (for scale rather than efficiency savings). Others expressed some caution over being forced into mergers that were not in the interests of their funds.

Many fund managers were reluctant to invest in areas where government policy has a significant bearing on the potential returns on investment, with many citing the recent changes to energy feed-in tariffs and the knock-on effects for business investment in the micro-generation sector. They stated that the government's role must be to provide a stable long-term policy environment that provides fund managers with the confidence to invest for wider economic benefit.

#### Key messages for local government

Dialogue across local authority and local enterprise partnership boundaries is vital in presenting investment opportunities. There were divergent views about the geographic scale at which wider impact investment should operate, including the potential for pooled funds at pan-regional or city-regional level (in some of the UK's larger city-regions).

A pooling of ready opportunities for investors should be considered, provided that they were heavily informed and forged by what the investment market required/would be receptive to.

Pooling was seen as a way for smaller funds to benefit from larger organisations' experience, capacity and ability to bear due diligence costs. Taking this a step further, a number of funds were also interested in receiving more guidance on the legal issues affecting "pooling and service-level agreements" between authorities to build economies of scale to develop funds, in particular where smaller funds could piggy-back on larger funds in their region.

Funds also highlighted the importance of local authorities in making places more attractive for investment, including their role in economic development, providing strong leadership and governance, delivering quality public services and managing local infrastructure. Addressing bottlenecks in planning and fast-tracking planning applications were the most common examples given as ways to make places more attractive for investment.

Some funds cited the potential to blend sources of finance to kick-start "recyclable funds", where commercial investment is matched against sources of European funding. However, they also stated that there needed to be a shift away from authorities' reliance on funding. The notion of "soft money" was raised as a huge risk for how future investments are perceived, in terms of ensuring that investments are not perceived as depending solely on subsidies.

#### Moving the agenda forward: key recommendations

The report concludes by making five key recommendations.

#### Recommendation 1: Better information and clearer guidance

Local authority pension funds should work with the Local Authority Pension Fund Forum (LAPFF), relevant government departments, external investment fund managers and the Chartered Institute of Public Finance & Accountancy to develop guidance and technical papers on impact investment and pooled investment vehicles.

## Recommendation 2: Demonstrable case studies and training on matching impact investment within fiduciary duties

LAPFF should work with investment intermediaries and consultants to develop good-practice case studies, for promotional use by "champion trustees" on how impact and infrastructure investments can be used effectively within their fiduciary duties to enhance the risk/reward profiles. LAPFF needs to explore member support/funding for the development of a series of training seminars for pension fund officers that highlights emerging finance vehicles which "layer" investments, combining high- and lower-risk investments (for instance, including property assets to underwrite risk).

## Recommendation 3: Legislative adjustments – enhancing potential for flexibility

The government should consider reviewing and exploring potential changes to restrictions on investments (as set out in *The Local Government Pension Scheme Schedule – Management and Investment of Funds*), to enable local authorities to have sufficient flexibility to address the issues and recommendations set out in this report, in particular those relating to limits for investment in limited partnerships.

## Recommendation 4: Create an enabling platform – a clearing house

Local authority pension funds and other relevant partners, including LAPFF, should lobby government to fund an independent external agency to act as a clearing house, gathering data from a wide range of (impact) projects around the UK, supporting transparent valuation and consistent financial reporting standards of impact/infrastructure projects. The agency would support the development of a combined national framework and standard for assessing economic, social and environmental value: of interest to the public, politicians, commissioners, social investors and local communities.

#### Recommendation 5: A new pooled vehicle

The potential should be explored for a core group of larger pension funds to contribute funding for the commissioning of an independent manager to help determine and deliver a way forward for pooled impact investment funds. The aim of the fund manager would be to develop a joint investment agreement that would see a group of five or more signatories each putting £5 million to £10 million into a pooled vehicle, with a view to inviting local authorities/public-sector bodies to put forward bids for the investment, including the leverage of other sources of public and private investment.

# 1. Introduction

#### 1. Introduction

#### 1.1 Context and terms of reference

The UK has over £1.6 trillion of assets under management in pension funds – 9% of the world's total, a sum larger than the UK's GDP.¹ Within the public sector alone, there are over 100 separate local government pension schemes, with a market value of £143 billion in March 2011.

It is clear that the government sees the use of institutional investors, such as pension funds, as an important source of future investment, in particular for national infrastructure.<sup>2</sup> These funds have the potential to help supply long-term, stable growth capital – at scale. At the same time the public sector is looking for new sources of investment to bridge capital funding gaps with private finance. The social sector is also looking at the potential role which it, and sources of impact investment, can play in the development and delivery of local services.

With intense competition for the resources available to public services, regeneration, transport, infrastructure and business support, it will be a huge challenge to maintain momentum and investment in many of the local plans and development programmes across the UK. Regaining this momentum will require fresh approaches to securing investment. It will also require greater flexibility from both the public and private sector in developing investment vehicles which are supported by a wider range of investors and finance.

This study is the first of its kind in the UK, and aims to provide a detailed assessment on how local authority pension funds can use their substantial resources to deploy capital in ways that derive wider economic benefit. As such, the study has the following objectives:

- to test out what the demand for impact investments might be;
- to review what has been achieved and what can be achieved by such investments;
- to identify the key opportunities and barriers to change; and

 to make recommendations on what stakeholders might do to enable change.

The study is not intended to be a comprehensive benchmarking exercise, nor is it a detailed guidance note for investment managers. However, we provide case studies to illustrate transferable practice, in the hope of encouraging investors to create a new wave of investment for more resilient local economies.

#### 1.2 Participation

The study findings are not attributable to any specific organisation (see Appendix 1 for participants); they are founded on a combination of the following research inputs:

- a call for evidence, telephone and face-to-face interviews with local authority pension fund officers, national and international investment fund managers;
- interviews with relevant UK representative bodies for investment; and
- workshops held with pension fund officers, external fund managers and local authority economic development and regeneration officers.

#### 1.3 Report structure

The remainder of this report is structured around the following sections:

- Section 2 provides an overview of the drivers of change influencing investment, including the current market for investment and government policy.
- Section 3 provides analysis of the main findings and themes identified in a national call for evidence and interviews undertaken with investment officers and external fund managers.
- Section 4 draws on the findings of the research and a series of round-table discussions to identify recommendations for action.

# 2. Drivers of change

#### 2. Drivers of change

This section aims to explore some of the issues influencing the use of local authority pension investments for wider economic benefit, including the challenges of growing investment, recent changes to government policy and the developing market for impact investment.

#### 2.1 Growing investment

The recession has left an indelible mark on investment levels across the UK, and a lack of access to finance continues to act as a drag on growth.<sup>3</sup> Levels of investment by the public sector, for example on capital expenditure (investing in new assets, or adding value to existing fixed assets), remain around half of what they were throughout the 1970s, and equate to just over £1 in every £10 of local government spending.<sup>4</sup> Between 2007 and 2010, capital receipts<sup>5</sup> fell by £2.6 billion.<sup>6</sup>

A combination of restrictions on raising capital finance and public-sector cuts (£6.68 billion by 2015) gives little doubt that these conditions have contributed to a decline in the overall quality of infrastructure, leaving the UK in a challenging position compared with many of its peer economies. Local authorities continue to remain under intense pressure to finance existing services and initiatives, let alone invest in infrastructure to address the issues that continue to affect their long-term competitiveness – such as worsening concentrations of deprivation and worklessness.

New sources of funding, such as the £600 million Big Society Bank (launched in April 2012)<sup>7</sup> will not be able to completely fill holes in investment, leaving funding gaps in many areas across the UK. As a result there is an urgent necessity to find new ways of leveraging additional investment to meet the expectations and need that have built across the country. In short, the ability to recycle and reinvest public resources alongside other sources of local investment – including pension funds – must become the norm in order to stretch public- and private-sector resources further.

#### 2.2 Local authority pension fund performance

The fallout from the credit crisis has continued to drive investment markets globally and has had a significant impact on pension returns on investment. Bank of New York Mellon has suggested that, over the past five years, the estimated weighted average for pension funds was 3.2% – slightly behind inflation (as measured by the RPI), and behind potential returns from investments such as government gilts over the same period.<sup>8</sup>

There were 1.6 million employees in the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS), with a market value of £143 billion in March 2011. Whilst this represents a significant tranche of investment, pension schemes have suffered significant losses, up to third between 2007 and 2009. Our own desk research, which included a light-touch review of pension performance, suggested that many funds were operating at between 85% and 95% of expected levels. Our own desk research, which included a light-touch review of pension performance, suggested that many funds were operating at between 85% and 95% of expected levels.

LGPS statistics illustrate the growing pressures on funds. The

number of people leaving the scheme rose in 2010/11, which, because of redundancies and retirements, has also led to an increase in benefits paid (£6.73 billion in 2010/11, compared with £5.61 billion in 2008/09), while income from employees' contributions stood at £1.97 billion, representing little change on the 2008/09 level of £1.93 billion. At the same time investment from income fell from £2.87 billion in 2008/09 (26.6% of total income) to £2.7 billion (23.5%) in 2010/11.11

These trends have led to an increasing interest in the diversification of investment portfolios in order to manage exposure to risk. Typically, funds have aimed to combine higherrisk overseas equities with more stable longer-term investments, including bonds, property and other "alternative" investments, which have risen by over 85% to £600 million in the course of the past two years.

#### 2.3 Developing a market for impact investment

As the language of impact investing gains resonance, questions asked with increasing frequency and relevance are: "When is an investment an impact investment?" and "How can we use investment to deliver sustainable economic growth?"

For the purposes of this report, "impact investing" and "investing for growth" were defined as "investments made based on the practice of assessing not only the financial return on investment, but also relevant and proportionate consideration of the economic, social and/or environmental impacts of the investment". Investment in UK infrastructure was also covered in this definition and this can clearly cut across each of these domains, as well as different types of asset such as property, building resource efficiency, utilities/energy, waste management and transport. Indeed, the Coalition government has set itself the task of facilitating some £250 billion worth of infrastructure investment, through "smarter use of public funding and improving private-sector investment models".12

This links with last year's publication of the National Infrastructure Plan, 13 calling for £30 billion to be invested over the next decade, and recent media coverage suggesting that £20 billion of this investment could potentially come from both private and local government pensions. 14 US pension funds have a track record of investing in infrastructure and regeneration programmes, typically through three types of asset classes: fixed-income, equity real estate and private equity (early and later-stage venture capital).

Impact investments are a relatively new segment of the financial market, which has emerged from an increasing convergence of: the social investing sphere, which seeks to combine wider economic impact with profit generation in order to become more self-sustainable; and an increased awareness in the traditional for-profit asset classes that value creation can only occur with due regard to both the sustainability requirements of society and delivering long-term economic growth.

Investors and investments within the field of impact finance

range broadly. Investors include development finance institutions, private wealth managers, commercial banks, pension funds, investment funds, companies and community development finance institutions – operating across multiple business sectors such as water, housing, education, health, energy and microfinance. Key to the success of a majority of investments is that they are expected to generate financial returns alongside wider economic and social returns. Recent research<sup>15</sup> into the requirements of investors also found that they are likely to engage if impact investments can offer:

- an expectation of market or close to market returns;
- some guarantee or mitigation of risk while approaching market-level returns;
- liquidity, which helps to reduce perceived risk;
- robust measurement and evidence of the returns generated by the investment;
- larger-sized investment opportunities, for example through pooled funds; and
- fund managers with a track record in which key institutions can develop confidence.

The impact investment market today is typically dominated by government-backed funds and a small number of banks and trusts (Charity Bank, Ecology Building Society, Triodos UK and Unity Trust Bank), which were collectively responsible for around 70% of investment activity in 2010/11.<sup>16</sup> Their focus is on lower-risk, secured lending and represents a more traditional form of impact investing that has been a familiar feature of the sector over a number of years.

However, if a vision is to be realised of a more vibrant impact investment market that blends together higher-risk opportunities with more secure returns, then this will need wide-scale development of the institutions, knowledge, experience and skills of the organisations and fund managers surrounding impact investment, as much as the type of asset class itself. Therefore, this study takes a broader look at the potential blockers and drivers of growth in the use of impact investment, including the following themes, which will provide the main framework for the remainder of this report:

- pension performance, attitudes to risk and portfolio diversification;
- barriers to developing investment for wider economic impact;
- potential for pooling investments and achieving scale returns on investment;
- delivering social impacts;
- resource limitations, including knowledge, capacity and skills:
- the demand for investment; and
- lobbying messages to help scale up impact investment.

#### 2.4 Government policy and strategy

There is a variety of recent legislation and government strategy relevant to this study, most notably the Localism Act<sup>17</sup> and the Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012,<sup>18</sup> as outlined below.

#### 2.4.1 The Localism Act

The Coalition government, under the Localism Act, has made a series of reforms to allow authorities to act in their own financial interest to generate value-for-money outcomes, to raise money, and to allow authorities to engage in activities outside their powers of well-being: "We have to create the conditions for communities to invest in their own success, give councils proper power over spending, as well as more control over the tax they raise and keep." 20

These reforms are part of the Coalition's "localism" agenda, which aims to devolve more freedoms and flexibilities required for local authorities to develop innovative approaches to delivering services and securing investment. Incentives include localising council tax benefit, reform of council housing financing, development of local enterprise partnerships and enterprise zones, changes to the planning system, City Deals and plans for referendums to establish more local mayors.

How radical these reforms prove to be will not be fully clear until after the Local Government Finance Bill<sup>21</sup> has come into force later in 2012. However, it does present an opportunity to support new investment and funding tools and to provide greater flexibility over revenue streams, including the retention of a proportion of local business rates. It also aims to encourage greater collaboration between commercial, public and social sectors, to encourage growth in the following ways:

- Local authorities and the social sector: leveraging land and infrastructure assets; providing revenue; growing planning powers; and providing high-quality support services.
- Government agencies: managing land assets; providing project design and delivery expertise; and delivering direct funding or enabling finance.
- Private sector: providing financial resources and knowhow; project management and delivery expertise; and the ability to bear risks that the public sector would prefer not to hold.
- Local employees and communities: building strong social capital; and locking in local economic benefit through earnings, local spending and investment.

#### 2.4.2 The Public Services Act

The Public Services (Social Value) Act became law on 8 March 2012. It emphasises the importance of increasing public value through investment in public services and supporting wider economic impacts, which can be generated by the private sector, the voluntary and community sector and by informal community networks – as well as by governments.

The bill brings in a statutory requirement for public authorities, at the pre-procurement stage of any services contract (and at this stage, services contracts only), to have regard for economic, social and environmental well-being in their areas. It aims to make the concept of "social value" more relevant and important in the placement and provision of public services. This will provide an opportunity for local authorities to support new models of service delivery and encourage them to explore new

ways of enabling and attracting investment for social and wider economic benefit.

#### 2.4.3 HMG: Growing the Social Investment Market 2012

This strategy, published in July 2012, sets out afresh the government's vision of a thriving social investment market where social ventures can access the capital they need to grow, allowing them to do more to build a bigger, stronger society. It sets out the steps for achieving the vision, explaining how government and others can act, including the role of the "Big Society Bank" as a wholesale investor and champion of the market.

The document also sets out how government can continue to have a central role to play in developing this important market, including a focus on:

- increasing the number of credible social investment opportunities, by supporting social entrepreneurs with promising ideas to start up new social ventures through the development of "social incubators" that provide space, finance and support;
- supporting more social impact bonds to get off the ground and enabling social ventures to deliver large

- public-service contracts through a potential dedicated outcomes finance fund; and
- making it easier to invest in social ventures by reviewing and removing the legal, regulatory and financial barriers to social investment and social enterprise.

#### 2.4.4 Pensions Investment Platform

The National Association of Pension Funds (NAPF) and the Pension Protection Fund (PPF) are working together to create a Pensions Infrastructure Platform (PIP). The PIP will be a new £2bn fund which will be created around the long-term needs of pension funds for long-term, inflation-linked, low risk infrastructure assets free from construction risk and with low leverage. The fund is planed to launch in the first quarter of 2013. Joanne Segars, Chief Executive of the NAPF, has said: "Pension funds are keen to invest in infrastructure, but often find it difficult to do so. Skills gaps, small fund sizes, investment fees, and fears over construction risk are all obstacles at the moment. We think one possible solution is in sight. We are well under way with the development of a new pensions infrastructure platform to help give pension funds large and small access to this important asset class."

# 3. Study findings

#### 3. Study findings

This section provides the results of interviews with local authority pension fund investment officers, external fund managers and relevant representative organisations linked to the pensions sector. It summarises the results of a call for evidence that was sent out to over 100 funds across the UK. It also draws upon three round-table discussions held in the summer of 2012: two sessions held with local authority pensions fund officers and economic development, regeneration and housing officers, and a workshop with external fund directors in London.

The main lines of enquiry were informed by a detailed literature review (see bibliography) which forms the main basis for the structure of the report. Relevant policy implications and recommendations flowing from the research are outlined in the final section.

#### 3.1 Fund performance and portfolio diversification

The study asked questions about the performance of funds, the general climate for investment, materiality given to environmental, social and governance issues (ESG), and whether or not significant changes had been made to funds over the course of the last 18 months. The interviews also discussed the extent to which trustees understood the market for making investment for wider economic benefit and for their perceptions on potential risks and returns.

All funds operate an asset mix policy which creates a framework for making investment decisions that have an improved prospect of generating returns consistent with the funding investment target. Their goals include:

- maintaining sufficient liquidity from fixed-income securities and cash flows to pay pensions;
- having large sums of capital available to complete private market transactions; and
- providing a cushion against market catastrophes and preserving their credit rating.

It was clear that all fund managers interviewed had witnessed a difficult 18 months in terms of financial performance of their funds, stemming initially from the credit crisis and subsequent stock-market meltdown, and rising costs of pension plan benefits reflecting the rising age profile of members:

We've been through a period of considerable change in terms of the fund [performance] and economic changes... We have worked over the last year to reduce our exposure to equities.

While there was a clear understanding that fund portfolios were long-term investments (typically exposed to peaks and troughs in market performance), the recent economic turmoil, lower-than-expected returns and pressure on pensions to meet their liabilities have led almost all fund managers and trustees to want to "take some risk off the table".

Mitigation of risks and the diversification of investment portfolios have been at the forefront of investment decisions over the past 18 months, with the aim of ensuring that there is no overexposure to any one asset or risk (timing, credit, liquidity, legal and other external risks). This was recognised by most of the funds and all external fund managers:

Long-term diversification will be vital... The more innovative funds will move beyond bonds and equities and will be looking at things like infrastructure, which is doing a similar job as indexlinked gilts, but offering a better rate of return in the longer run.

With public funding sources under increasing pressure, many funds had decided to review their strategy. Aside from a few funds who suggested that there would be no "knee-jerk" reactions or were broadly happy with their funding strategy, most funds said they had looked to increase exposure to "alternative investments". These were, in the main, most likely to include private equity (including early and later-stage venture capital) and infrastructure (mostly property).

A couple of funds interviewed said that they were interested in the potential for using derivatives and hedge funds to give them more flexibility, but were cognisant of some of the legal difficulties that have surrounded this issue in case law in the past:

We've taken a look at alternatives such as hedge and derivatives to give the fund more flexibility, but we're taking advice on this to see what is possible.

Infrastructure investment was cited in approximately four-fifths of the research interviews as a key area for portfolio diversification. Around half of these already had infrastructure investments (through external fund managers), and the other half were taking advice (typically through consultants, or in discussion with other external partners) on the potential for future property investment:

They [trustees] have considered social housing, but have not made any active investments in this area yet. If there is a payoff from this type of investment then they would certainly look at it, but at the moment they are waiting to see what materialises around the debate on infrastructure.

Some of the larger funds interviewed identified a proactive approach as a way of mitigating the potential risk of being overwhelmed by a deluge of developers and members putting schemes forward for finance. Funds saw this approach as part of the process of working with external fund managers on property funds, and then when the time came they would have "an established seat at the table to flag up the stronger, well-evidenced, local opportunities".

The workshops with pension fund officers highlighted the progress that some of the larger funds had made in terms of developing recyclable investment funds and other property ventures that have been developed jointly with local authority partners. The discussion groups also highlighted that more could be done to promote what property development investments were available

throughout the UK, and more support should be given through government and intermediaries to help local authorities develop "solid investment proposals":

It would be useful to have a single agency or platform to promote opportunities for investment... Equally, more could be done in terms of raising the quality of proposals that are requesting investment.

#### 3.2 Materiality of impact investments

The interviews highlighted the need to clarify what was meant by the terms "impact investment" and "investing for growth". Many saw these as referring solely to social investments, and additional effort was made during the interviews to discuss the potential to develop infrastructure and environmental investments for wider economic (including local, regional and national) impact.

While there was growing interest in and action by trustees towards developing new and alternative sources of investment within their investment strategy, there was much less evidence (other than in some of the larger funds) of impact investments that extended beyond active engagement with companies to address environmental, social and governance (ESG) issues.

There was a growing recognition that ESG issues were an important part of developing a more sustainable long-term investment. These issues are typically dealt with by the delegated authority given to external fund managers and their compliance with the Stewardship Code and UN Principles of Responsible Investment:

The main duty is placed upon external funding managers who, as part of their contract, are required to select investments by making relevant and proportionate ESG consideration.

Funds used their position as shareholders to actively encourage good corporate governance in those companies in which they invested, typically by outsourcing proxy voting to external consultants, and through membership of the LAPFF acting collectively on governance issues:

LAPFF provides a very useful link into ESG issues and influencing change.

Most funds suggested that most of the recent conversations around alternative/impact investments centred on developing infrastructure – mostly UK office property investments. The call for evidence also highlighted the fact that established infrastructure (rather than green-field developments) proved most attractive in terms of long-term income streams, awareness of risks and a track record of data on occupation, rents and yields.

Some pension funds highlighted that complex products could put "pressure on the fund's resources" in terms of time needed to understand, promote and manage these investments, and a minority suggested that this could – without clear communications – create confusion and turn away investors.

The added complexity from such investment could run the risk of reducing transparency, putting pressure on staffing resources (in terms of management and developing staff in new areas of investment), and could – in extreme cases – put investors off.

Many investors (including institutional investors and pension funds) typically have a natural asset allocation model that allows them to allocate specific "sector buckets" rather than the specialist niche areas that impact investments present. Some fund managers suggested that the development of impact investments as an asset class in their own right (for example, within pension portfolios), such as "social finance investment", would help to address this issue:

It is not always obvious in which asset class infrastructure, for example, fits. In some locations it might be familiar, but for the majority there is not a specific allocation for infrastructure and therefore the issue always remains unhelpfully open to debate, or overlooked.

The interviews and workshops identified that the development of strategy tools, case studies and demonstration projects (typically by larger funds) would help to address the perception of a "restrictive fiduciary duty", which is seen by many investors as one of the main barriers to impact investment. The workshops also highlighted that different approaches to demonstrating fiduciary responsibility could actually help develop and deliver impact investment in the longer term:

The difficulty for many local authorities and pension funds is that it is a huge leap of faith and experience, jumping from receiving EU gap funds and moving to new forms of investment... There needs to be smaller demonstrable steps (by larger funds) that will convince others to follow.

It is critical to get over perception that impact investments (social, environmental, property) have suboptimal returns... Demonstrating the impact of some of the "first-overs" would show how funds have acted in the best interest of their beneficiaries.

Typically asset class allocations are adjusted a little behind the curve; there is little one can do about it apart from information and showing what can be achieved in niche opportunities, and getting investment managers to invest in a counter-cyclical way.

There were mixed views about investing directly in local infrastructure. External fund managers and consultants were largely averse to "local-only" types of impact investment. Many funds described local investments as posing a double risk, should local initiatives fail to deliver. The general consensus was that fiduciary responsibility and "finance first" must be *the* overriding factors in all investments:

Whatever happens, we would strongly recommend that there is not a forced exposure to specific types of [local] investment... We would never advise on that; pension funds must be allowed to choose the most flexible strategy for themselves.

I think the panel understand their fiduciary responsibilities and whilst we have investment for wider impact such as property, this is certainly not a local-only approach. The result is a danger of accumulating conflict-of-interest and risk.

Many of the investment officers from smaller funds said that it was very difficult to accommodate direct local investments within their funding strategies, due to the lack of information about potential risks and a lack of track record relative to other strategic options. Developing a robust evidence base and an information platform which demonstrates the types of investment and potential for returns from regional infrastructure projects was commended as one way forward:

Growing these types of investments requires an all-encompassing evidence base on what needs to be done to prove the potential for investment in many places.

There could be some form of agency or clearing house that helps promote a platform showing what investments are available and to help provide additional support for building and valuing propositions.

#### 3.3 Key barriers to developing impact investments

The main barriers arising in relation to developing impact investments, particularly for infrastructure funds, were: managing reputational risks associated with new investments and delivering fund managers' fiduciary responsibility to maximise returns for investors; and a potential for conflicts of interest, especially if the investment was linked to local schemes. Despite these perceptions, investment for wider impact and stimulating economic growth was certainly much higher up the agenda of all the funds interviewed than it had been three to five years ago:

These issues are definitely higher up the agenda than they were, but as a fund, maximising returns remain paramount, although we have bought into the concept that these issues are important factors in achieving these long-term required returns.

The key issue in this agenda is stressing fiduciary duties. All investment must stack up financially with the right return on investment; anything which limits investment (worst case into substandard investments) just goes against fiduciary responsibilities.

While maximising returns remained paramount for all funds, most funds (all but two) stated that they would be interested in developing investment for greater economic and social impact, provided that:

- rates of return and the right risk profile could be achieved, where rates of return were "understandably less than equities, but higher than bond rates";
- there were no local conflicts of interest;
- the investment schedule was clear and there was a track record of delivery; and
- there was a clear exit strategy: "investors need to know how they can get their money out".

None of the pension fund managers interviewed said they would be prepared to accept lower returns in exchange for achieving social benefit. However, the workshops highlighted that there was potential to structure or "layer" investments together – that is, blending higher-risk with lower-risk/safer long-term investments – in order to "ensure fiduciary responsibility is built into an investment product":

If the investment manager can be trusted to deliver returns on your behalf, and there is demonstrable proof that the investment portfolio/product will make risk-adjusted rates of return, for example by including a property layer as part of the investment, then there is no reason why impact investments cannot be developed and rolled out.

The workshops also highlighted a growing interest in learning more about how joint investment vehicles and asset-backed vehicles could work in future, for example, by using lessons learned from previous public-private partnership projects:

There's a lot the public sector can learn and share with the private sector in terms of managing joint investments and making them work.

Pension funds highlighted the perception that recent initiatives such as the Private Finance Initiative (PFI) have a "certain stigma attached", but despite this they also indicated that there was strong interest in developing joint investment vehicles and partnerships moving forward. Many respondents interviewed (particularly larger funds) said having a partnership, or joint venture, with multiple investment partners and external fund management support demonstrated a "stronger level of commerciality" than a stand-alone investment:

Despite all the stigma attached to PFI, there still appears to be a significant appetite to be involved in any future rounds of this type of development.

It works when there is sufficient third-party input, with the scheme scheduled correctly and more than two other investors putting money in; then you know they will have done the due diligence and got the legal frameworks in order.

Conflict of interest was the primary worry for almost every fund interviewed; and to a lesser extent there were concerns about the risks of investing locally, along with the fact that some employers in a fund might not be locally based or deriving any real benefit (that is, outsourced admitted bodies), which might put such policies in question:

The biggest thing is conflicts of interest... Local interest can cause future complaints. The general view is that all investments are appraised on their own merits... rather than for a particular impact type or geography of impact.

Most funds were more likely to show interest in third-party vehicles or external fund managers, describing the use of specialist/niche investment houses that were best placed to advise and manage infrastructure funds. Funds were keen to point out that the use of specialist fund managers was also an "expression of intent to add value to the fund":

Generating commerciality is the critical factor and helps reduce perceived risks... and this can be done by using external fund managers to provide value and market intelligence.

#### California Public Employees' Retirement System

The California Public Employees' Retirement System (CalPERS) manages retirement benefits for more than 1.6 million California public employees, retirees, and their families. It is the US's largest public pension fund (£237 billion) and its membership is divided approximately in thirds among current and retired employees of the state, schools and participating public agencies.

In 1990, the CalPERS investment committee established the Alternative Investment Management (AIM) programme to specialise in private-equity investments. The initiative was initially launched with a capital commitment of \$475 million to nine private equity funds and one fund of funds, and currently has \$925 million committed to AIM.

The goal of the AIM programme is to "capitalise on marketplace opportunities in order to achieve superior risk-adjusted returns". Consistent with this goal, in 2001 the CalPERS Investment Committee established and implemented the California Initiative to invest private equity in traditionally under-served markets, primarily, but not exclusively, in California.

The initiative seeks to discover and invest in opportunities that may have been bypassed or not reviewed by other sources of investment capital. The California Initiative's primary objective is to generate attractive financial returns, meeting or exceeding private equity benchmarks.

As an ancillary benefit, the California Initiative was designed to have a meaningful impact on the economic infrastructure of California's under-served markets, and invests in portfolio companies that employ workers who reside in economically disadvantaged areas and that provide employment opportunities to women and minority entrepreneurs and managers.

#### 3.4 Potential for pooling investment

Another key barrier identified by funds was having the scale of investment needed to achieve the required returns on investment. Scale was seen as the critical success factor for overseas institutional investors, which have taken a greater interest in UK infrastructure in recent years.

Recent press has highlighted discussions within local authorities in London on how they can operate their pension funds together in order to save money on administrative costs, and on their giving a commitment to explore further the proposals for the creation of a London Pensions Mutual, as a pan-London investment fund estimated to be around £30 billion in total value.<sup>22</sup>

The interviews discussed whether or not most of the opportunities for impact investments – such as regional/national infrastructure – were outside the reach of most funds. Nearly all funds interviewed recognised that such investments could only be done at a scale which required the pooling of funds:

We need to look at pan-regional, perhaps even national scale, for impact investments in terms of property/physical development; and probably even for social impact investments.

All funds recognised that infrastructure investments were more likely to be more attractive to the larger funds that had scale and would be able to bear the due diligence, legal, administrative and other management costs. They recognised that even small percentages of larger funds would still be comparably larger in value than similar shares of investment in their own relatively smaller funds, and therefore infrastructure investments would be better carried out by external funds or through a pooled investment vehicle:

It is difficult to follow the largest funds to get the diversification needed, as 5% of our fund is not as large as the biggest UK funds; still considerable, but it would need additional investment to make infrastructure investment work.

Smaller direct investments, including those for wider economic benefit, don't always have the range of returns we require for the fund; equally, large infrastructure investment is just not affordable to us.

#### Ontario Municipal Employees' Retirement System

The Ontario Municipal Employees' Retirement System (OMERS) was established in 1962 to serve local government employees across Ontario. Today, it represents 947 employers and almost 420,000 members, retirees and survivors, including municipal workers, Children's Aid Society workers, firefighters, emergency services staff, police, transit workers and utilities workers.

OMERS has shown how a local government pension plan can take an active role in infrastructure investment. Through an investment arm, OMERS Ventures, OMERS has committed (as of December 2011) around 16% of its total assets (\$55 billion) to various forms of infrastructure (including High Speed 1 in the UK). Through steadily increasing its stake (and investing alongside private companies), the fund has gained the type of knowledge and expertise that can arm it in the market for future investments.

The target investment size is \$100 million to \$300 million, but it is able to invest a higher amount if needed. Ownership can be sole owner, majority control, joint control or minority owner with appropriate shareholder rights. Investments could be management or leveraged buyouts, corporate divestitures, expansion capital for a proven business or a significant investment in a public entity.

We focus on investing in our businesses for long-term value creation... We have the ability to leverage the relationships of other investment entities and resources of OMERS which make investments in real estate, infrastructure assets and public equities.

Critical success factors include using investment relationships (often through local offices in global cities) to present additional investment opportunities and to broaden the range of investments to include capital for high-growth firms through its venture capital funds – OMERS Ventures.

Many funds called on central government to take a more active role in supporting those areas that wished to move towards pooled investments. Some funds suggested that more could be done to merge funds across the UK (for scale rather than efficiency savings). Others expressed some caution at being forced into mergers that were not in the best interests of their funds or beneficiaries:

They really need more information on the detail and how this will work in practice... In the interim any more discussion without this information could prove unhelpful.

When it comes down to it, there has been extremely little thought about how their ideas on infrastructure investment will translate into practice... particularly in terms of fiduciary duty considerations... There's an expectation that the funds should focus on UK investments.

There were divergent views about the geographic scale at which wider impact investment should operate, including the potential for pooled funds at pan-regional or city-regional level (for some of the UK's larger cities). Concerns were mostly driven by a perception that the use of funds for wider impact – for example, central government using pension funds for big-ticket infrastructure items such as High Speed 2– would mean that opportunities for much-needed regional and local investment would be lost:

There is a risk between the emphasis placed upon localism and the current rhetoric put forward about national infrastructure funds.

Some funds saw the current hiatus on policy and guidance about infrastructure investment in the UK as an opportunity to identify schemes which, with some seed funding or part of the risk underwritten by government, would provide good rates of return in the next 20 years:

It will need authorities to put proper, well-evidenced investment options on the table rather than waiting to counter pressures from government for "big" investment.

Political will and expediency were cited as the most important factors determining the future of pooling or merged funds dealing with impact investment. All funds recognised that a lot of recent discussion had taken place, but in practice there was likely to be little movement on this front for some time, potentially resulting in missed opportunities:

Work through pooling funds... it is not clear where this may go at the moment. There is potential for small funds to link to other funds... more of a watching brief at this very moment, but we would not write it off as a way forward.

[For impact investment] to be an option, government needs to be on the front foot. If it takes too long to sort... opportunities will be missed... The challenge is political will to make it work.

Case studies of funds in London and Manchester such as the

Greater Manchester Property Ventures Fund, were cited by interviewees as examples of where funds had been designed to work at scale, across a city region, with the backing of authorities.

#### **Greater Manchester Property Ventures Fund**

GMPVF creates property investments by a process of site acquisition, building design, direct property development and property letting/management. The fund recently decided to increase its local investment allocation from up to 3% to up to 5% of scheme assets, potentially allowing for up to £500 million of investment in the region through a diverse range of assets. A pilot scheme is being worked up by the Greater Manchester Pensions Fund and Manchester City Council to develop a housing investment model that could deliver mixed housing development and that is capable of being applied across Greater Manchester.

The pilot project will see development on land owned by the council for the construction of up to 240 homes, with around a quarter being sold on completion and the balance being let. The stakes in the joint venture will reflect the capital invested by the fund and the land value provided by the council. The council hopes that if successful, the pilot scheme would lead to a development pipeline of five to 10 years towards a joint-venture housing development by Manchester City Council.

A small, but not insignificant number of smaller funds were interested in the potential to "piggyback" as a junior investor to some of the larger local authority pension funds:

There is potential to build funds that offer the smaller funds the opportunity to piggyback on larger ones, where the larger fund has already done the due diligence and legal reviews and is ready to share the investment... This is some way from being put into practice, though.

Taking this a step further, a number of funds were also interested in receiving more guidance on the legal issues affecting "pooling and service-level agreements" between authorities, to build economies of scale to develop funds; and would welcome support for developing impact frameworks to encourage joint approaches and sharing of risk and rewards:

It is about setting up the systems and evidencing the wider economic benefits which might accrue from one investment to different areas across the patch.

The workshops also highlighted interest from local authority pension funds in finding out more about how pooling could be made to work, either through the commissioning of an external fund manager, or potentially through a group of larger funds coming together and taking the lead on a pooled initiative. Some of the smaller funds interviewed expressed a preference for using specialist external fund managers, who could spread risk across a range of property assets and locations.

While pooling through external funds allows pension funds to share risks, many also highlighted the concern that potential fees and follow-on transaction costs could prove prohibitive:

The fee structures for particular infrastructure funds and carry costs are still too high and need to adjust... They have been offputting for the last couple of years.

#### 3.5 Delivering social and environmental impacts

The interviews asked both pension officers and external fund managers about their perspectives on social finance and whether it would prove to be a serious choice for pension investments; and, in particular, what it would take to scale up this type of activity in future. The main barriers cited by interviewees were lack of information platforms about the opportunities, and the potential scale of return from social investments not really being worth the start-up/due diligence costs:

Investors are largely unaware of the impact investment market in general.

Many investment opportunities are young and cannot absorb large amounts of capital, while the due diligence costs are significant and often of a fixed nature.

Some pension funds suggested that they hadn't seen any advisers recommending these types of products. Others pointed to lack of track record, insufficient benchmarks/ratings and lack of legislation to develop pooled investments (including social impact investment):

There's a need for the social investment sector as a whole to develop a promotion and information strategy to ensure different types of investors have better access to products.

Environmental/green investments were, however, seen as a growing asset class, offering a range of subsectors, industrial operations, and localities which could be used to diversify risk and returns across an investment portfolio. The main opportunities identified were linked to government policy relating to waste management, energy sources and carbon targets, in particular building energy and resource efficiency:

Smaller, nimble firms moving into the "green economy" have been able to show great ROI... First movers have already spotted the gaps in the market... but overall still at one end of the investment spectrum... The market will shift as absolute CO2 reduction over a whole portfolio becomes a factor in performance.

Scaling up the social investment sector will require the development of consistent and robust evaluation processes, in order to raise confidence and attract new investment. The majority of funds interviewed (with one or two exceptions) said they thought that this area of investment was, despite all the current rhetoric, largely untested, requiring more information on the historic levels of risk and rates of return to be generated.

Many funds are nowhere near impact bonds yet, it needs a stronger model to get more organisations involved. That's not to say it couldn't have potential... We are looking into it.

Other funds suggested that it needed external funds and "various proposers" to work as a whole to pull finance together

and then approach local authority pension funds for a small slice to match (say, £2 million to £3 million). The initial scale put in by these operators would suggest seriousness of intent, as well as providing legal and financial due diligence, and the value added by experienced niche fund managers:

These can work, but the main success factor is having a good team of highly skilled and experienced niche managers around the investments to ensure that they stack up and are well managed... This gives investors confidence that it will deliver.

#### **London Green Investment Fund**

The London Green Investment Fund is a £100 million fund for investment in schemes to cut London's carbon emissions, launched in October 2009 by the mayor of London. It was originally made up of £50 million from the London European Regional Development Fund Programme, £32 million from the London Development Agency and £18 million from the London Waste & Recycling Board. The fund is part of the Joint European Support for Sustainable Investment in City Areas initiative (JESSICA) that was developed by the European Commission and the European Investment Bank.

The London Green Fund provides funding for two smaller funds – the Waste Urban Development Fund, which has been allocated £35 million, and the Energy Efficiency Urban Development Fund, which will receive £50 million. These are revolving investment funds, where funds invested in one project are repaid and then reinvested in new projects.

Foresight Group LLP has been appointed to manage the Waste UDF, which is known as the Foresight Environmental Fund. This will be used to target local waste and environmental infrastructure investments in the Greater London area which are aligned with the government's view on local solutions to local problems.

The Foresight Environmental Fund is targeting high rates of return from investment while fulfilling local infrastructure needs (energy and recycling), creating jobs, diverting waste from landfill and reducing CO2 emissions. It could be viewed as attractive from an economic perspective, thanks to its return profile, but it also meets local environmental and social needs.

Pension fund officers also said that far more work needed to be done by local authorities to evaluate impact and demonstrate attribution of their projects:

Not knowing why, when and where the fruits of the investment are going to drop [is a problem].

We can see LAs needing to develop relationships with organisations to understand social impact, needing greater evidence and attribution of impacts... First movers will probably be doing this.

Funds indicated a preference to link to market initiatives that are in place to build third-party systems to manage funds and evaluate impacts. Many pension funds cited the role of niche

investment funds with relevant expertise leading the way on investments for socioeconomic benefit, in particular citing the skills and track record of their fund managers in these areas:

It all comes back to scale. Small social investments do not have the scale or risk profile that is attractive to give you the right returns on investment... A better route is through third-party fund managers.

Social housing funds were mentioned in discussions about social investments, and are proving attractive enough to stimulate requests for further consultancy advice and debate about future development. While there has been a significant amount of discussion across UK pension funds regarding social housing (and announcements from the Scottish government about developing a programme of housing investment), there was very little evidence of take-up throughout the interviews from either pension funds or external fund managers:

There is a feeling that infrastructure, including housing, may have something as a way forward in investing for wider impact, but it needs a heavyweight, independent finance person (or persons) to push it through at government level.

Most funds said that housing investment was being or had been "looked at", but they were waiting for others to initiate "demonstration projects". Despite the potential benefit of long-term income streams, the workshops suggested that the timing for social housing wasn't immediately right for funds. However, some funds said they would be interested at some point in the near future in gaining access to investment products that provided the added security of long-term returns from property investment without the associated property operational risk – that is, externally managed property funds:

There are a lot of conversations about housing at the moment, but there are many hidden risks, including the fact that we don't want to do direct investment or property management... We're yet to see such investments take off at scale across the UK.

It needs some form of government backing, which is unlikely, to flag social housing as a pilot area to take impact investment forward; otherwise it will remain a cottage industry.

The larger funds interviewed expressed an interest in how "blended" or "layered" property investments could work. For example, the potential for a local authority to provide land (and some form of guarantee for the development) working alongside institutional investors, developers and property consultants to promote mortgage lending and housing development:

The local authority puts the land in, the developer does the box – some access and properties – and looks to sell a third of the site straight away... The remaining two-thirds are social housing... We would be looking at around 3–5%, plus RPI on top.

Some funds expressed concern that such investments might lock investors in for long periods of time (over 10–20 years), whereas some venture funds preferred exit strategies closer to five to

10 years, so that money could be recycled more quickly. This suggests that a flexible approach needs to be built into some of the investment layers.

Other pension funds suggested they needed more information about these types of investment before they would be persuaded to progress further:

The blending of optimal with suboptimal rates of return could work, but there is little information available from consultants and advisers on how this would work.

The main consensus was that this would work with larger funds (which could afford the transaction costs) and within areas where the demand for housing was forecast to be strongest, in particular across the South East of England. Even here, some funds called on government to provide some form of incentive to help develop a cohesive approach to housing investment and development:

There still needs to be some form of tax break to help get housing market investments kick-started, otherwise it will be a piecemeal approach to development investment through "cattle markets" and not through traded funds.

Most funds reiterated the need for authorities to focus on making their locations more attractive for investment by providing strong leadership and governance, delivering quality public services and managing local infrastructure. Addressing bottlenecks in planning and fast-tracking planning applications were the most common examples given as ways to make places more attractive for investment:

If investment for wider economic impact is urgent, then so is sorting planning... It needs to be much more fleet-of-foot to help make places more attractive for investment.

The workshops also identified a need for local authorities to work closer with developers, investment consultants and pension funds to raise the quality of their investment propositions, which to date had been generally poor in quality:

The biggest challenge we have (for the pension fund managers) is finding new projects that are credible, have well-designed investment schedules and have good long-term returns.

#### 3.6 Resources, knowledge and skills

The pensions landscape is characterised by a complex legislative framework. In addition to the legislation of individual schemes, there are industry-wide statutes that apply in whole, or in part, to public-sector schemes, including the way in which schemes interact with state pensions. Of key importance is a knowledge of the governance frameworks that apply within the pensions industry (such as the Myners principles); within individual schemes (such as the Local Government Pension Scheme governance statement requirements); and within the organisations that administer the schemes (such as the Chartered Institute of Public Finance & Accountancy and Society of Local Authority Chief Executives' framework *Delivering Good* 

Governance in Local Government).

The interviews and workshops explored pension fund managers' perceptions of resource constraints and skill shortages, especially those linked to the growing diversification of investment portfolios into new and innovative products and assets; and potential gaps in knowledge relating to understanding investment risk and performance.

Interviewees were also asked about the key gatekeepers, tools and signposts that typically helped trustees to develop their own understanding, and which could be used to promote investment for wider economic impact.

Resource constraints were cited as a barrier to developing new areas of impact investment, and funds were concerned that more complex fund portfolios would put additional pressure upon pension panel members who already had limited time to devote to their trustee responsibilities:

Smaller funds lack time and resources, so spend on training for general awareness rather than niche areas such as (social) impact investments.

Impact investments were perceived to be more resourceintensive than conventional investment practice – in terms of overall management as well as knowledge requirements for trustees. Some smaller funds were also administered alongside treasury services, and in these circumstances time and resource pressures were highlighted as a challenge to developing skills and knowledge in new product areas, but these problems were not insurmountable:

There's a clear issue that larger funds can support larger inhouse teams, and can put time and resources into this area (impact investments), but there is also evidence of smaller funds which have political backing to develop and resource some inhouse expertise.

Despite the pressures on elected members' time, all funds had taken extensive steps to provide training for elected members and officers – either through external investment consultants or through fund managers – when bringing new products to the market:

It is difficult to plug members into training, given that they have other commitments in the council as well as full-time jobs... However, training is high on our agenda and we aim to make it mandatory.

Whilst a general level of skills and knowledge was a prerequisite (many funds had long-serving experienced trustees), funds did not expect their trustees to micro-manage investment actions and therefore they did not require them to have a detailed understanding of complex products:

Members don't need to have such detailed understanding as they are not micro-managers for the fund. They are there to provide strategic steering and guidance when required. However, the qualifications of investment officers were paramount to good fund management, in terms of intelligent commissioning of external fund managers as well as in delivering day-to-day management of funds:

The important thing is to use experience and learn from it... The aim should be to build up internal knowledge and understanding over time.

A number of common areas of future training were identified during the interviews, including: setting up joint ventures, pooling arrangements and associated legal issues; developing framework agreements for procurement and commissioning external managers; and understanding complex alternative investments such as layered property investments, joint ventures, derivatives and hedge funds (including information about regulations on their use).

Some complained that the regulations on limits to pooling and the use of hedge funds were restrictive and that government should explore potential revisions to these:

It will be useful to have clearer guidance on issues with investments; for instance, limited partnership limits, and the exact definition of derivatives in terms of investment is not clear... There is little or no legislation on this. We would like to use these "alternatives" to provide flexibility to the fund.

The gaps are governance, legislation and advice to allow a pension fund to operate on behalf of others... There are limits to certain asset class investments which are restrictive.

Many funds used external consultants and the Chartered Institute of Public Finance & Accountancy tools and skills framework to develop their trustees' levels of understanding, as this is viewed as providing good coverage of the legislative knowledge required to see how all parts of investment fit together. Funds also reiterated the importance of leveraging the skills and experience of external fund managers and consultants, rather than trying to develop deep knowledge in too many different areas of investment:

The skills needed are already complex and diverse – for example, 18% of our portfolio is in property, and we are diversified across equities by theme, area, sector etc. External managers' skills are important to deliver our investments in the right way.

Investment consultants were regarded as the main gatekeepers, best placed to give advice and guidance on changes in asset portfolio, such as investments for wider economic impact. The workshops highlighted the feeling that more could be done through investment consultancy to help develop awareness of impact investments as an asset class, and that both the institutional pension sector as a whole and local authorities were on a steep learning curve about how to develop impact investment:

There is a gap in local authority thinking, a reliance on funding and an urgent need for consultants and other intermediaries to help build serious investment propositions... There's a huge gap in skills and experience in these areas.

The workshops also suggested that there was a greater role for developing trustees as gatekeepers for impact investment. These were typically one or two elected members (often exinvestment managers or treasury officials) who had a particular interest in, for example, environmental and social investment, and were prepared to act as champions to help promote these opportunities moving forward:

It is important to have long-term officers and members that provide consistent support, expertise and experience; this has been an important part of the fund's management.

Despite the positive approach to knowledge and skills development, pension fund managers still highlighted a lack of knowledge about opportunities available, reiterating the need for the social investment sector as a whole to develop a promotion and information strategy to ensure different types of institutional investors had better access to impact investment products:

We don't see the product advice or the depth of support in this area of investment, it is underdeveloped despite what we hear recently about opportunities... More work needs to be done by external financial advisers and other intermediaries.

#### 3.7 Sources of investment

While the study does not aim to provide a detailed assessment of the supply of different investment products, interviewees were asked how they thought impact investments compared with other sources of finance, and whether there were other, cheaper sources, such as the Public Work Loan Board (PWLB) and prudential bank borrowing, which should be the first choices for finance.

A small number of funds interviewed (five) questioned whether local authority pension funds should be approached to support local projects and wider economic benefit (national infrastructure) at all. They were keen to stress that local authorities and pension funds were, and should be, separate organisations, as well as suggesting that local authorities should use prudential borrowing and PWLB finance as a "safer option" to kick-start stalled property developments:

Local authorities should look towards risk-free sources of investment, such as prudential borrowing and PWLB, rather than looking at pension schemes.

Some funds cited the potential to blend sources of finance to kick-start "recyclable funds", where commercial investment is matched against other sources of UK and European funding. However, the notion of "soft money" was raised as a huge risk for how future investments are perceived, in terms of ensuring that investments are not perceived as depending on subsidy or tax incentives:

Sometimes the public sector can provide "seed" investments,

but this must not be seen as soft money, or an initiative being "propped up" by the public sector – there have been plenty of property developments that have stalled now that public subsidies have come to an end.

#### 3.8 A role for government?

The interviews and workshops discussed whether there should be any key asks of government. Most funds highlighted the need to maintain employer contributions at a fairly stable level to achieve the targets set by central government. The 100% funding target limited the amount of investment risk that funds could take, leading to requests for government to underwrite some of the risk attached to new or more entrepreneurial impact investments. However, funds were unsure whether this would be forthcoming, given the current levels of debt on the government's balance sheet:

The government could give thought to broadening the scope for underwriting investments to de-risk some larger investments around the country. Government backing in this way gives investors greater confidence. Whether this happens remains to be seen.

All funds expressed their reluctance to pursue any approach which required them, through regulations, to "go down a particular investment route". Most funds commented that the government narrative about infrastructure investments had not been helpful (lacking clarity and guidance on issues such as pooling investment) and some feared a rush to pension funds with expectations that they would be in a position to support any type of local or national infrastructure:

More clarity can be provided by government on how infrastructure funds might work, but regulation must not weaken the returns on investment which can be achieved by the fund.

We can do practical things on impact investment, but we need to be supported to take sensible but small steps... Pension funds can get involved in this agenda but it is not and never should be a "milch cow" of local finance and investment.

Many fund managers were reluctant to invest in areas where government policy has a significant bearing on the potential returns on investment, with many citing the recent changes to energy feed-in tariffs and the knock-on effects to business investment in the micro-generation sector. They stated that the government's role should be to provide a stable long-term policy environment that provides fund managers with the confidence to invest for wider economic benefit:

There must be greater clarity and continuity, a drive for less noise with absolute focus on resource efficiency; conflicting messages or lack of expediency really un-nerve investors.

The workshops and a small number of interviews called for the provision of "safe harbours" where employers and funds could talk more freely to scheme members about fulfilling their fiduciary responsibilities and delivering value for money. Some interviewees suggested the greater use of dialogue between pension authorities and beneficiaries, asking them directly about their preference for their investment choices:

How do we know we are working in the best interests of our bene-

ficiaries and delivering our fiduciary responsibility if we are not asking them about what they want... This includes talking about issues like social and environmental impact investment... Could we implement an opt-in for particular investment choices?

# 4. Conclusions and recommendations

#### 4. Conclusions and recommendations

The following section draws together some common themes across the call for evidence, interviews and workshops, and makes practical recommendations for action.

Our research suggests a lack of clarity on the asset class for impact investment and a need to scale up knowledge of trustees about impact investments. A perception of suboptimal returns from impact investment remains among some funds; however, most stated an interest in these opportunities but "only if it stacks up financially", or if this area can be demonstrated as a credible asset class by "addressing the issue of fiduciary responsibility".

The research also suggests a need for co-investment (local authority pension fund and external fund managers) to eliminate the danger of perceived conflicts of interest, as well as investing at scale through external fund managers with a track record in impact investments – rather than making direct impact investments. The other critical factor will be to promote how fiduciary responsibility is/can be delivered operationally when making impact investments.

Our first recommendation relates to providing a better mechanism for developing information and knowledge, in effect taking this research work forward.

#### Recommendation 1: Better information and clearer guidance

Local authority pension funds should work with the Local Authority Pension Fund Forum (LAPFF), relevant government departments, external investment fund managers, and the Chartered Institute of Public Finance & Accountancy to develop guidance and technical papers on impact investment and pooled investment vehicles. The guidance documents should be linked to evaluation and lessons learned from progress towards delivering the first recommendation. Consideration should be made to including these outputs within the Statement of Investment Priorities guidance and promoting their use via online knowledge and skills development platforms.

Our second recommendation relates to the continued development of the skills and knowledge of local authority pension fund trustees and pension fund officers, and the important role of investment intermediaries in helping to develop impact investment.

While the research did highlight some minor skill shortages, these were typically addressed through the continuous programme of training provided for trustees as required by the Myners review. However, the research highlighted a need for greater input from investment intermediaries to support the scaling up of impact investment through the advice they give to institutional investors. This would also support the emergence of impact investment as an asset class in its own right.

## Recommendation 2: Demonstrable case studies and training on matching impact investment within fiduciary duties

LAPFF should work with investment intermediaries and consultants to develop good practice case studies for promotional

use by "champion trustees" on how impact and infrastructure investments can be used effectively within their fiduciary duties to enhance the risk/reward profiles. LAPFF should explore member support and funding for the development of a series of training seminars for pension fund officers that highlight emerging finance vehicles which "layer" investments, combining high- and lower-risk investments (for example, including property assets to underwrite risk). While advisers and fund managers need to be given more freedom and a greater mandate to consider impact investments, there also need to be higher levels of understanding in the funds they support.

Our third recommendation relates to requests from pension funds for greater flexibilities in how funds are managed in terms of the limits set out in statutory legislation; in particular, in relation to the limits set for investment in partnership vehicles, enabling the recommendations set out in this report to be taken forward.

### Recommendation 3: Legislative adjustments – enhancing potential for flexibility

The government should review and explore potential changes to restrictions on investments (as set out in the *Local Government Pension Scheme Schedule – Management & Investment of Funds*), to enable local authorities to have sufficient flexibility to address the issues and recommendations set out in this report, in particular those relating to limits for investment in limited partnerships.

There were frequent requests for greater input and support from government throughout the research, ranging from information and guidance to a more proactive stance whereby government would underwrite some of the risk in impact investments. Given the current curb on public spending it is not clear that this would be forthcoming, especially with the current levels of debt on the government's balance sheet. The next two recommendations give practical steps which the government could make, along with relevant agencies, to support impact investment.

### Recommendation 4: Create an enabling platform – a clearing house

Local authority pension funds and other relevant partners, including LAPFF, should lobby government to fund an independent external agency to act as a clearing house, gathering data from a wide range of (impact) projects around the UK, supporting transparent valuation and consistent financial reporting standards of impact/infrastructure projects. The agency would support the development of a combined national framework and standard for assessing economic, social and environmental value that would be of interest to the public, politicians, commissioners, social investors and local communities.

#### Recommendation 5: A new pooled vehicle

The potential should be explored for a "core group" of larger pension funds to contribute funding for the commissioning of an independent manager to help determine and deliver a way forward for pooled impact investment funds. The aim of the fund manager would be to develop a joint investment agreement that would see a group of five or more signatories each putting £5 million to £10 million into a pooled vehicle, with a view to inviting local authorities/public-sector bodies to put forward bids

for the investment, including the leverage of other sources of public and private investment.

# **Study participants**

#### Study participants

We would like to thank those organisations that have given their time freely in support of the research, interviews and workshops. Without their input the work would not have been possible.

Name	Organisation
Phil Caroe	Allia
Les Komaromy	AMP Capital Investors (UK)
Tim Currell	Aon Hewitt
Chris Laxton	Aviva Investments
Andrew Ainsworth	Barnsley Council
Michele Giddens	Bridges Ventures
Christine Salter	Cardiff Council
Rod Lockhart	CBRE
Michael Johnson	Centre for Policy Studies
Mark Wynn	Cheshire West & Chester Council
Stephan van Arendsen	Cheshire West & Chester Council
Nigel Keogh	Chartered Institute of Public
	Finance & Accountancy
Jonathan Hunt	City of Westminster
Esme Lowe	Climate Change Capital
Dave Lyons	Deloitte
Abhishek Srivastav	Deutsche Asset Management
Mark Lyon	East Riding of Yorkshire Council
Vicki Bakhshi	F&C Investments
Alistair McGirr	Falkirk Council
Katrina Evans	Fife Council
Paul Blythe	Finethic
Mark Burrows	Foresight
Peter Morris	Greater Manchester Pension Fund
Tom Harrington	Greater Manchester Pension Fund
Ian Howell	Hampshire County Council
David Morley	Henderson Global Investors
Tim Lewis	Housing Infrastructure Fund Group
Ian Simm	IMPAX
Brian Bailey	Independent
John Finch	JLT Investment Consulting
Peter Cazalet	JPMorgan
Jeff Houston	Local Government Association
Jo Ray	Lincolnshire County Council
lain Miller	London Borough of Barnet
Nigel Cook	London Borough of Croydon
Bridget Uku	London Borough of Ealing
Paul Reddaway	London Borough of Enfield Council
Malcolm Smith	London Borough of Richmond upon Thames
Caroline Watson	London Borough of Southwark

Debbie Drew	London Borough of Waltham Forest
Mike Taylor	London Pension Fund Authority
John Atkin	M&G Investments
Aled Jones	Mercer
Joanne Holden	Mercer
Owen Thorne	Merseyside Pension Fund
Peter Wallach	Merseyside Pension Fund
Harvey Griffith	Morgan Sindall
James Walsh	National Association of Pension Funds
David Murphy	NILGOSC
Tom Morrison	North Yorkshire County Council
Clare Gorman	Northumberland County Council
John Ruffolo	OMERS Canada
Sean Collins	Oxfordshire County Council
Alan MacDougall	Pensions Investment Research
_	Consultants
Tom Powdrill	Pensions Investment Research
	Consultants
Simeon Leach	Rotherham MBC
Edward Simons	Royal Bank of Scotland
David Belton	Sheffield Council
David Hutchison	Social Finance
Martin Rich	Social Finance
Anton Sweet	Somerset County Council
Cllr Martin Lawton	South Yorkshire Pensions Authority
Cllr Richard Wraith	South Yorkshire Pensions Authority
Fiona Bourne	South Yorkshire Pensions Authority
Jane Firth	South Yorkshire Pensions Authority
John Hattersley	South Yorkshire Pensions Authority
Richard McIndoe	Strathclyde
Gayda Bridges	Threadneedle Investments
Graeme Russel	Torfaen County Borough Council
Desmond Gardener	Transport for Greater Manchester
John Gray	UNISON
Geik Drever	West Midlands Pension Fund
Kevin Dervey	West Midlands Pension Fund
Mike Hardwick	West Midlands Pension Fund
Rachel Wood	West Sussex County Council
Rodney Barton	West Yorkshire Pension Fund
David Anthony	Wiltshire County Council
Eliot Ward	Wolverhampton City Council
Mark Forrester	Worcestershire County Council
Mervyn Jones	Yorkshire Housing Group

# Notes

#### **Notes**

- 1 TheCityUK estimates are based on those of Watson Wyatt, OECD, Insurance Information Institute cited in ClearlySo *Investor Perspectives on Social Enterprise Financing* (2011)
- 2 www.localgov.co.uk "Pickles Urges Councils to Prepare for Next Spending Review", 7 March 2012
- 3 British Chambers of Commerce *Quarterly Economic Survey Q1 2012*
- 4 DCLG Local Government Financial Statistics England No 21 (2011)
- 5 Capital receipts comprise disposal of tangible fixed assets, intangible assets, leasing disposals, repayments of grants, loans and disposal of share and loan capital and disposal of other investments.
- 6 DCLG, op cit
- 7 http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/business-17602323
- 8 http://www.stockmarketwire.com/article/4287075/UK-pension-funds-in-the-red-with-returns-of-0-point-9pct.html, cited in Localis *Credit Where Credit's Due: Investing in Local Infrastructure to Get Britain Growing* (2012)
- 9 Localis, op cit
- 10 Given the long-term nature of pension investments, it is not uncommon for pension assets to vary against obligations.
- 11 DCLG Local Government Pension Scheme Funds England 2010 to 2011 (2011)

- 12 HM Treasury National Infrastructure Plan 2010 (2010)
- 13 http://www.hm-treasury.gov.uk/national\_infrastructure\_plan2011.htm
- 14 Sherman, J "Osborne to Raid £140bn Town Hall Pension Pot" in *The Times*, 11 January 2012
- 15 ClearlySo *Investor Perspectives on Social Enterprise Financing* (2011)
- 16 Ibid
- 17 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/20/contents/enacted
- 18 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2012/3/contents/enacted
- 19 Power of "well-being" set out in the Local Government Act 2000
- 20 Speech by the deputy prime minister for the DCLG, "Community Budgets to be Rolled Out Countrywide", 2011
- 21 http://www.communities.gov.uk/localgovernment/localgovernmentfinance/lgfinancebill/
- 22 "London Councils Look to Pool Pensions" on publicservice. co.uk, 10 April 2012

# **Bibliography**

#### **Bibliography**

Australian Council of Super Investors *ESG Investing* (2007) Andononov, A et al *Value Added From Money Managers in Private Markets? An Examination of Pension Fund Investments in Real Estate* (2012)

APSE *Income Generation: Using Charging & Trading Powers*, briefing (2010)

BNP Paribas Novethic *Environment, Social & Governance* (ESG) Attitudes, survey (2011)

Bedfordshire Pension Fund *Statement of Investment Principles* (2010)

Berkshire Pension Fund Local Government Pension Scheme – Report & Accounts (2010)

Blue Orchid *Delivering the Promise*, social performance report (2011)

Bolton, M Foundations & Social Investment (2005)

Boston Consulting Group and Young Foundation *Lighting the Touch-paper: Growing the Market for Social Investment in England* (2012)

British Chambers of Commerce *Quarterly Economic Survey Q1* 2012

Buckinghamshire Pension Fund County Council Pension Fund Statement Of Investment Principles 2011

Bridges Ventures *Impact Report: Innovative Investments That Make a Difference* (2010)

Bridges Ventures *Investing for Impact: Case Studies Across Asset Classes* (2010)

Burgess, K et al "Appeal to Pension Funds to Build" in *Financial Times*, 23 November 2011

Cabinet Office *Growing the Social Investment Market* (2012) Canada Pension Plan Investment Board *Canadian Pension Plan Report on Responsible Investing* (2011)

CCLA Good Deals 2009: The Social Investment Almanack (2009) Centre for Cities City Solutions: Delivering Local Growth – Local Asset-backed Vehicles (2007)

Centre for Cities *Urban Outliers: Will the Local Government Finance Bill Incentivise Growth in England's Cities?* (2012) Centre Forum *Delivering Growth While Reducing Deficits: Lessons from the 1930s* (2011)

Charity Commission Charities & Investment Matters: A Guide for Trustees (CC14) (2011)

Charities Aid Foundation Access to Capital: A Briefing Paper (2009)

Chartered Institute of Public Finance & Accountancy Investment Decision Making & Disclosure in the Local Government Pension Scheme: A Guide to the Application of the Myners Principles (2009)

Chartered Institute of Public Finance & Accountancy Delivering Good Governance in Local Government Pension Funds (2009)
Chartered Institute of Public Finance & Accountancy Pensions Finance Knowledge & Skills Framework: Technical Guidance for Elected Representatives & Non-executives in the Public Sector (2010)

Chartered Institute of Public Finance & Accountancy Code of Practice on Public-Sector Pensions Finance Knowledge & Skills (2011)

ClearlySo Investor Perspectives on Social Enterprise Financing (2011)

CNE Manchester *The Greater Manchester Growth Plan & Evidence Base* (2012)

Community Development Finance Association *Just Finance:*Capitalising Communities, Strengthening Local Economies (2011)
Department for Communities & Local Government Local
Government Financial Statistics England No 21 (2011)
Department for Communities & Local Government Local

Government Pension Scheme Funds England 2010 to 2011 (2011) Department for Work & Pensions The Myners Principles &

Occupational Pension Schemes (2003)

Deputy prime minister's speech for the DCLG, "Community Budgets to be Rolled Out Countrywide", 2011

Derwall, J The Economic Virtues of SRI & CSR (2007)

Esmee Fairbairn Foundation Foundations & Social Investment (2005)

European Sustainable Investment Forum *Pensions Toolkit: Social & Responsible Investment* (2005)

European Sustainable Investment Forum European SRI Study 2010

FairPensions Protecting our Best Interests: Re-discovering Fiduciary Responsibility (2011)

Foxwell, M "How Canada Has Carried Out an Extraordinary Invasion" on Thisismoney.com (2012)

Freireich, J and Fulton, K *Investing for Social & Environmental Impact: A Design for Catalyzing an Emerging Industry* (2009) Gloucestershire County Council Pension Fund *Statement of Investment Principles* (2012)

Greater Manchester Pension Fund *Minutes of Meetings: Alternative Investments* (Northwest Evergreen Funds) (2011/12)
Greater Manchester Pension *Fund Funding Strategy Statement* (2011)

Global Investor "UK Pension Funds Look to Emulate Canadian Investment Strategies" (http://www.theglobeandmail.com/globe-investor/investment-ideas/streetwise/uk-pension-funds-look-to-emulate-canadian-investment-strategies/article2426046/) Hebb, T *US Public Sector Pension Funds & Urban Revitalization* (2004)

HM Treasury Financing a Private-Sector Recovery, joint report with Department for Business, Innovation & Skills (2010) HM Treasury National Infrastructure Plan 2010 (2010) Hope Consulting Money for Good: Impact Investing Overview (2010)

Institute for Public Policy Research *Putting Pensions to Work: Economic Easing & the Role of Pensions in Promoting Growth* (2011)

Independent Public Service Pensions Commission: Final Report (2011)

International Institute for Sustainable Development Harnessing the Power of Public-Private Partnerships: The Role of Hybrid Financing Strategies in Sustainable Development – State of Victoria Australia Pension Funds (2012)

Investment Management Association Asset Management in the UK: Funds Under Management 2010/11

Investment Pensions Europe "Investments & Pensions in Europe: Treasury Signs Infrastructure Memorandum with LPFA, Greater Manchester" (2011)

Irish Funds Industry Association *Guide to Common Contractual Funds* (2007)

JP Morgan *Impact Investments: An Emerging Asset Class* (2012) Just Pensions *The Responsible Investor's Toolkit* (2005)

Kent County Council Kent County Council Superannuation Fund: Statement of Investment Principles (2011)

Kommuninvest Sweden *Overview of Local Government Debt Office* (2012)

Lancashire County Council Pension Fund *Statement of Investment Principles* (2011)

Lancashire County Council Pension Fund *Governance Policy Statement* (2011)

Local Authority Pension Fund Forum *Investing in a Changing Climate: A Guide for Trustees to Address Climate Change* (2010) Local Authority Pension Fund Forum *Annual Reports* (2007 to 2011)

Local Government Information Unit *The Localism Act: An LGIU Guide* (2012)

Localis Credit Where Credit's Due: Investing in Local Infrastructure to Get Britain Growing (2012)

London Pensions Fund Authority *Statement of Investment Principles* (2011)

London Pensions Fund Authority *Investment Report* (2011) Monaghan, P "Use Local Pension Funds to Get Young People into Work" in *The Guardian*, 12 March 2012

Monitor Institute *Investing for Social & Environmental Impact* (2009)

National Council for Voluntary Organisations *Commission on Tax Incentives for Social Investment* (2012)

Nesta et al Investing for the Good of Society: Why & How Wealthy Individuals Respond (2011)

Nesta et al *Understanding the Demand for & Supply of Social Finance: Research for the Big Society Bank* (2011)

New Economics Foundation *Mission Impossible: Emerging Opportunities for Mission-connected Investment* (2008)

New Philanthropy Capital New Facilities, New Funding: A Proposed Financing Model from Scope (2010)

New Philanthropy Capital *Principles into Practice: How Charities & Social Enterprises Communicate Impact* (2012)

Northern Way Private Investment Commission: Financing the Long-term Future of the Regions (2009)

North Yorkshire Pension Fund A Long Guide to the Local Government Pension Scheme (2008)

North Yorkshire Pension Fund *Statement of Investment Principles* (2011)

North Yorkshire Pension *Fund Funding Strategy Statement* (2011)

Odell, M and Burgess, K "Rail and Road Projects to Receive a Boost" in *Financial Times*, 29 November 2011

Parker, G et al " 'For Sale' Sign Goes Up Over UK Infrastructure Projects" in *Financial Times*, 23 November 2011

Ponds, E et al Funding in Public Sector Pension Plans:

International Evidence, Organisation for Economic Co-operation

Et Development working paper (OECD, 2011)
Principles for Responsible Investment Responsible Investment in

Infrastructure: Compendium of Case Studies (2011)
Principles for Responsible Investment Implementation of the PRI by Small & Resource-Constrained Investors (2011)

publicservices.com "London Councils Look to Pool Pensions", 10

April 2012

Sherman, J "Osborne to Raid £140bn Town Hall Pension Pot" in *The Times*, 11 January 2012

Shultz, A The German Sub-national Government Bond Market: Structure, Determinants of Yield Spreads and Berlin's Forgone Bail-out (2008)

Smith Institute and RSA "Changing Gear: Is Localism the New Regionalism?", event held in 2012

Social Investment Task Force Development of the Social Investment Market: Social Investment Task Force Ten Years On (2010)

Social Finance Social Impact Bonds: Rethinking Finance for Social Outcomes (2009)

Social Finance Towards a New Social Economy: Blended Value Creation through Social Impact Bonds (2010)

Social Finance A Technical Guide to Developing Social Impact Bonds (2011)

Social Finance Breaking the Cycle: Effective Punishment, Rehabilitation & Sentencing of Offenders – Summary of Social Finance's Consultation Response, Ministry of Justice green paper (2011)

Social Finance Social Impact Bonds: A New Way to Invest in Better Healthcare (2011)

SQW Research on Third Sector Access to Finance (2007)
Steiger, A et al The Case for the Community Partner in Economic Development, report for the Federal Reserve Bank of Boston (2007)

Triodos Bank A Breath of Fresh Air: Triodos Bank & the Energy Sector (2009)

Tsoutsour, M *Corporate Social Responsibility & Financial Performance* (2004)

Trades Union Congress *Trade Unions & Investor Activism* (2003) Tyne & Wear Pension Fund *Statement of Investment Principles* (2011)

United Nations Environment Programme Legal Framework for the Integration of the Environmental, Social & Governance Issues into Institutional Investment, Freshfields report (2005) United Nations Environment Programme Fiduciary

Responsibility: Legal & Practical Aspects of Integrating Environmental, Social & Governance Issues into Institutional Investment (FI Asset Management Working Group, 2009) United Nations Environment Programme & UKSIF Responsible Investment in Focus: How Leading Public Pension Funds are

Meeting the Challenge (2007)
UNISON Local Government Pension Fund: The Economics (2009)

Universities Superannuation Scheme Investment Beliefs & Guiding Principles (2011)

UKSIF Sustainable Alternatives: Sustainable Investment Opportunities for Pension Funds (2008)

UKSIF Annual Review: Supporting Leadership 2009/10 (2010) UKSIF Focused on the Future: 2000-2010 – Celebrating Ten Years of Responsible Investment Disclosure by UK Occupational Pension Funds (2010)

UKSIF The Future of Investment: Sustainable Index Investing (2010)

UKSIF Taking Responsibility: Achieving Resilience (2010) UKSIF The Future of Investment: Sustainable Investment Boutiques (2010)

UKSIF Response to Call for Evidence by the Kay Review (2011)

UKSIF Responsible Business: Sustainable Pensions – How the Pension Funds of the UK's Corporate Responsibility Leaders are Approaching Responsible Investment, report of survey for 2007, 2009, 2011

UKSIF Annual Review: Advancing Sustainability Through UK Investment & Finance 2010/11

Walker, D (ed) *Real Localism* (Smith Institute, 2007) Wilson, D and Game, C *Local Government in the United Kingdom* (2006) West Yorkshire Pension Fund *Report & Accounts* (2011) www.localgov.co.uk "Pickles Urges Councils to Prepare for Next Spending Review", 7 March 2012

YouGov Research from YouGov for National Ethical Investment Week 2010

Young Foundation *Grow Your Own: How Local Authorities Can Support Social Enterprise* (2011)

Young Foundation Growing Social Ventures (2011)

#### The Smith Institute

The Smith Institute is an independent think tank which provides a high-level forum for thought leadership and debate on public policy and politics. It seeks to engage politicians, senior decision makers, practitioners, academia, opinion formers and commentators on promoting policies for a fairer society.

If you would like to know more about the Smith Institute please write to:

The Smith Institute Somerset House South Wing Strand London WC2R 1LA

Telephone +44 (0)20 7845 5845 Email info@smith-institute.org.uk Website www.smith-institute.org.uk